Court of Appeals No. 43448-2-II

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH LEIF WOLF,

Defendant/Appellant.

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County, Cause No. 08-1-02972-9 The Honorable Elizabeth Martin, Presiding Judge

> Sheri Arnold, WSBA No. 18760 Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 7718 Tacoma, Washington 98417 (253) 683-1124

#

II.	ISSUES PRESENTED				
	1.	Mr. Wolf was denied due process because there was no petition for revocation of the SSOSA filed until after the suspended sentence had been revoked			
	2.	Mr. Wolf was denied due process because the court based revocation of his SSOSA on hearsay evidence where there was an absence of good cause to forego live testimony			
	3.	Mr. Wolf's trial counsel's conduct was deficient because his stipulations on substantive and procedural issues resulted in denial of "minimal" due process to Mr. Wolf			
	4.	The trial court failed to ensure that procedures required to provide minimal due process were followed			
	5.	The trial court abused its discretion when it based its decision to revoke Mr. Wolf's SSOSA on hear- say evidence where there was no good cause to forego live testimony			
	6.	The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Wolf's motion to reconsider the revocation of his SSOSA sentence where Mr. Wolf's SSOSA sentence was revoked in violation of his due process rights			
III.	STA	TEMENT OF THE CASE1			
IV.	ARG	UMENT			

A.	Mr. Wolf's due process rights were violated				
	1.	due p	ons facing SSOSA revocation have process rights, although they are himal."		
	2.		Volf's "minimal" due process rights violated9		
		(a)	<i>Mr. Wolf did not receive written notice of the claimed violations and of the evidence against him before his SSOSA was revoked10</i>		
		(b)	The trial court based its decision to revoke the SSOSA on hearsay evidence11		
		(C)	The trial court found that Mr. Wolf had violated conditions of his SSOSA based on defense counsel's stipulation to unverified facts pre- sented to the court without prior notice and on a legal conclusion he urged the court to reach		
		(d)	<i>The language of the Order Revoking</i> <i>Sentence confirms the lack of due</i> <i>process</i> 14		
		(e)	Based upon de novo review, this Court should rule that Mr. Wolf was denied "minimal" due process15		
B.			ounsel rendered ineffective		
	1.	Defei	nse counsel's conduct was deficient16		
	2.		nse counsel's deficient conduct was dicial to Mr. Wolf17		

	C.	The trial court abused its discretion18			
		1.	It was an abuse of discretion to proceed with the revocation hearing absent any of the procedures that ensure "minimal" due process		
		2.	It was an abuse of discretion to revoke Mr. Wolf's SSOSA based on hearsay evidence		
		3.	It was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to deny Mr. Wolf's motion to reconsider the revocation of his SOSA where Mr. Wolf's SSOSA was revoked without observation of his due process rights21		
VI.	CON	CLUS	ION		

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

#### Page

## **Table of Cases**

# **Washington Cases**

<i>Grandmaster Sheng-Yen Lu v. King County</i> , 110 Wn. App. 2, 38 P.3d 1040 (2002)
Jones v. Hogan, 56 Wn.2d 23, 351 P.2d 153 (1960)11
State ex rel. Washington State Public Disclosure Com'n v. Permanent Offense, 136 Wn. App. 277, 150 P.3d 568 (2006), review denied, 162 Wn.2d 1003, 175 P.3d 1092 (2007)8
State v. Dahl, 139 Wn.2d 678, 990 P.2d 396 (1999)9, 12, 20
State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 917 P.2d 563 (1996)17
<i>State v. Huddleston,</i> 80 Wn.App. 916, 912 P.2d 1068, <i>review denied,</i> 130 Wn.2d 1008 (1996
<i>State v. Miller,</i> 159 Wn.App. 911, 247 P.3d 457, <i>review denied,</i> 72 Wn.2d 1010 (2011)
State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 893 P.2d 615 (1995)12
State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 101 P.3d 80 (2004)16
<i>State v. Robinson,</i> 120 Wn. App. 294, 85 P.3d 376, <i>review denied,</i> 152 Wn.2d 1031, 103 P.3d 200 (2004) 10, 11
State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 204 P.3d 916 (2009)16

#### I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Mr. Wolf was denied "minimal" due process.
- 2. Mr. Wolf received ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 3. The trial court abused its discretion in revoking Mr. Wolf's Special Sex Offender Sentencing Alternative ("SSOSA").
- 4. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Wolf's motion to reconsider the revocation of his SSOSA sentence.

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Mr. Wolf was denied due process because there was no petition for revocation of the SSOSA filed until after the suspended sentence had been revoked. Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 2.
- 2. Mr. Wolf was denied due process because the court based revocation of his SSOSA on hearsay evidence where there was an absence of good cause to forego live testimony. Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 2.
- 3. Mr. Wolf's trial counsel's conduct was deficient because his stipulations on substantive and procedural issues resulted in denial of "minimal" due process to Mr. Wolf. Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 2.
- 4. The trial court failed to ensure that procedures required to provide minimal due process were followed. Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 3.
- 5. The trial court abused its discretion when it based its decision to revoke Mr. Wolf's SSOSA on hearsay evidence where there was no good cause to forego live testimony. Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 3.
- 6. The trial court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Wolf's motion to reconsider the revocation of his SSOSA sentence where Mr. Wolf's SSOSA sentence was revoked in

violation of his due process rights. Assignments of Error Nos. 1, 2, 3, and 4.

#### **III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On June 17, 2008, the Pierce County Sheriff's received a report from a foster parent that two of the foster children in her home had disclosed that they had been sexually assaulted by Joseph Leif Wolf, then 16 years old, who was also a foster child in the same home. CP 1; CP 4.

On June 23, 2008, Mr. Wolf was charged with five counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree. On October 9, 2008, the State filed an Amended Information, reducing the charges to two counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree. CP 6-7. The State also filed a Prosecutor's Statement Regarding Amended Information on October 9, stating:

The State requests the Court to consider accepting a plea to the filing of an Amended Information pursuant to RCW 9.94A.090 for the following reasons: this resolution is the result of plea negotiations; the defendant is a juvenile in the foster care system who committed these acts against juvenile victims who are also in the foster care system. Due to the age of the defendant, past history of the defendant and the significant amount of time that will be suspended and imposed if he violates any conditions of the SSOSA, the State is in agreement of the resolution to allow him the opportunity to get treatment and still be held accountable. This resolution results in multiple victims not having to testify. Additional, the defendant disclosed his actions with A.O. and brought forth that information. A.O. has been interviewed and did not disclose the sexual assaults.

CP 8.

Mr. Wolf pled guilty to two counts of Rape of a Child in the First Degree. CP 9-20. Sentence was imposed on November 14, 2008, consisting of 131.9 months confinement with 119.9 months suspended. CP 38. Conditions imposed on Mr. Wolf included completion of a 3-year outpatient sex offender treatment program; service of twelve months in total confinement; obtaining and maintaining employment; and not residing in a community protection zone. CP 38-39.

On February 8, 2012, the State filed a Motion and Affidavit for Bench Warrant, alleging that Mr. Wolf had "violated Conditions of Sentence" (CP 643) "by admitting to use of methamphetamine over the past weekend (1/4 - 2/5/12) based on representations of CCO Arthur Williams." *Id.* On that same date, the Court entered an Order Authorizing Issuance of Bench Warrant, finding that the deputy prosecuting attorney has shown good cause for the issuance of a bench warrant for the defendant for the reason(s) that "D violated conditions of SSOSA." CP 644. A bench warrant was issued on February 8, 2012 (CP 645), and on February 9, 2012, an Order Establishing Conditions of Release Pending Pursuant to CrR 3.2 was entered, under which Mr. Wolf was "to be held in custody without bail." CP 646-647.

A violation report written by Mr. Wolf's community custody officer Arthur Williams was filed with the Court on February 9, 2012. CP

-3-

432-446. A Scheduling Order was also entered on February 9, 2012, scheduling a "SSOSA Review Hearing" for February 24, 2012. CP 648.

On February 24, 2012, the prosecutor told the court that the State had not filed a petition for revocation of Mr. Wolf's SSOSA sentence because "Defense counsel and I have spoken. We'll file a petition for the purposes of the actual, written documentation, but the violations are agreed upon." 2/24/12 RP 3-4. The following exchange took place between the defense counsel and the Court:

MR. QUIGLEY . . . I would normally require that we have a petition filed before we proceed.

THE COURT: I wasn't clear that we were doing revocation or review.

MR. QUIGLEY: Right. Time is of the essence, from my perspective and I think Mr. Wolf's perspective, if the Court were to follow the recommendations that we're going to propose. I don't want to delay this matter.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. QUIGLEY: What I've told Ms. Kooiman is that the State, of course, needs to file the petition that's consistent with the allegations that she laid out, whether it's I know it's late in the day on Friday, or at least by Monday morning.

2/24/12 RP 5.

Mr. Quigley then indicated that Mr. Wolf would not stipulate to the facts described by Ms. Kooiman, which Mr. Quigley characterized as more "expansive" than facts to which Mr. Wolf would stipulate. *Id.* at 6.

Prosecutor Kooiman then stated:

Your Honor, maybe we should set it over. I contacted defense counsel yesterday anticipating it would be set over. He wanted to go forward with it, hoping the defendant would get out of custody and start school on Monday. If there's any issue with me being too expansive within the facts and the reports -- and that information was pulled directly from CCO Williams' report that was dated February 8<sup>th</sup>. If there's any issue with that, we can certainly set this over and have a full-blown revocation hearing with testimony.

I don't want to have any issue of the defendant's rights being violated at all for these allegations, and that's why I contacted defense counsel yesterday, to see what his plans were with it.

THE COURT: Well, at this point, it wasn't noted in front of me as a revocation hearing. The CCO report does not give a recommended sanction. So I don't know -- I didn't know until -- I didn't know whether I was being asked to revoke. I still don't know.

MS. KOOIMAN: What was it noted as?

THE COURT: A review.

MS. KOOIMAN: It shouldn't be a review. He was in custody on a violation.

THE COURT: There's a notice of violation. It's noted on my calendar. It says "SSOSA review hearing."

MS. KOOIMAN: Okay.

THE COURT: There is no petition for revocation that's filed.

MS. KOOIMAN: I recognize that, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Right. And in the CCO report, it says at the time of the hearing -- "I recommend the court schedule a noncompliance hearing and summons him to appear. At the time of the hearing, an appropriate sanction will be recommended."

MS. KOOIMAN: Right.

THE COURT: There's nothing that notifies the Court that this is a revocation hearing, only that it's a hearing basically on the violation. So I don't know what the recommendation is of the CCO....

... Perhaps we need to set it over for a revocation hearing because, as I say, the materials that I received indicated no recommended sanction. I have nothing from the State. So I didn't know in what posture this was coming before me.

#### 2/24/12 RP 6-9.

Ms. Kooiman explained that, typically, a revocation hearing would have been set "directly in front of the judge" by "the CD's" when Mr. Wolf was picked up on the bench warrant. *Id.* at 9. However, defense counsel wanted the Court to conduct a revocation hearing instead of a review hearing, "[b]ecause of the schedule for the defendant's schooling, he wants to have him out on Monday, and the State's obviously, not in agreement with that." *Id.*  When the Court stated, "I don't yet know what the CCO's position

is (2/24/12 RP 10), Mr. Williams responded:

Well, your Honor, I had some specifics that we discussed, a lengthy protocol. One of my biggest concerns of my recommendation was testing of bath salts and the synthetic marijuana. The Department doesn't currently test for that illegal substance. We worked out an agreement to have Mr. Quigley or one of his representatives pay for that testing. I was going to make a recommendation of 30 days confinement, with testings, and some other protocols with regards to reporting frequently, on a weekly basis, and some other instances where he was going to report to his treatment provider. So that was going to be my recommendation.

With the revocation pending, I would have some concerns with releasing Mr. Wolf.

THE COURT: Okay. So I guess that brings me to where we are. Mr. Quigley, I don't know if you want to proceed with a revocation hearing today with no petition having been filed.

MR. QUIGLEY: I am prepared to --

THE COURT: Okay. All right.

Id.

When Mr. Quigley stated, "I know that you were, perhaps, caught

off guard this was going to go forward as a revocation hearing," the Court

replied:

Only because it wasn't noted as such. There was nothing in the CCO report, nor did I receive any documentation from the prosecutor. There's nothing to notify the Court that this is a revocation hearing. If the three of you are willing to proceed with this as a revocation hearing, with the petition being filed after the fact, I'm willing to proceed. I want you to know that's not what was noted in front of me. This simply is report on a violation as far as I can tell.

2/24/12 RP 12.

Mr. Quigley responded that if the hearing were set over to permit the State to file a petition, Mr. Wolf would "lose schooling." *Id.* 

The Court proceeded with a "revocation hearing," then revoked Mr. Wolf's SSOSA sentence based upon the facts stipulated to by defense counsel. *Id.* at 31. Mr. Wolf was committed to the Department of Corrections for a period of 131.9 months plus three years of community custody with credit for time served of 513 days. CP 482. A Petition for hearing to Determine Noncompliance With Condition or Requirement of Sentence and Motion for Bench Warrant was filed on February 27, 2012. CP 485-487.

A Motion to Reconsider was filed on March 9, 2012 (CP 491-515), based in part on the fact that Joseph Wolf was denied even the minimal due process to which he was entitled. CP 492-493. On April 27, 2012, the Court denied the Motion to Reconsider. CP 605.

Notice of Appeal was timely filed on May 18, 2012. RP 606-633.

#### **IV. ARGUMENT**

A. Mr. Wolf's due process rights were violated.

Alleged violations of due process are questions of law subject to de novo review. *State ex rel. Washington State Public Disclosure Com'n v. Permanent Offense*, 136 Wn. App. 277, 293, 150 P.3d 568 (2006), *review denied*, 162 Wn.2d 1003, 175 P.3d 1092 (2007) (citing *State v. Warner*, 125 Wn.2d 876, 882–83, 889 P.2d 479 (1995); *Conway v. DSHS*, 131 Wn.App. 406, 418, 120 P.3d 130 (2005)).

#### 1. <u>Persons facing SSOSA revocation have due process</u> rights, although they are "minimal."

Because "revocation of a suspended sentence is not a criminal proceeding," "[a]n offender facing revocation of a suspended sentence has only minimal due process rights." *State v. Dahl*, 139 Wn.2d 678, 683, 990 P.2d 396 (1999) (citing *State ex rel. Woodhouse v. Dore*, 69 Wn.2d 64, 416 P.2d 670 (1966); *State v. Nelson*, 103 Wn.2d 760, 763, 697 P.2d 579 (1985)). Due process for individuals facing revocation of a SSOSA requires:

(a) [W]ritten notice of the claimed violations; (b) disclosure to the parolee of the evidence against him; (c) the opportunity to be heard; (d) the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses (unless there is good cause for not allowing confrontation); (e) a neutral and detached hearing body; and (f) a statement by the court as to the evidence relied upon and the reasons for the revocation.

*Id.* (citing *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 92 S.Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972)).

# 2. <u>Mr. Wolf's "minimal" due process rights were violated.</u>

Mr. Wolf's rights to written notice of the claimed violations and the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses were violated by his own attorney's conduct. Mr. Wolf's trial counsel stipulated to violations of SSOSA conditions even though he merely speculated about what one violation might be (*see* 2/24/12 RP at page 5, lines 22-25), and didn't agree that the facts underlying the alleged violations were "quite as expansive" as had been orally described by the prosecutor during the hearing. *Id.* at page 6, lines 2-3. The only evidence relied upon by the trial court was hearsay evidence in the absence of good cause to forego live testimony.

> (a) Mr. Wolf did not receive written notice of the claimed violations and of the evidence against him before his SSOSA was revoked.

"**Before** a sentence can be modified, the defendant must be given, written notice of the claimed violations." *State v. Robinson*, 120 Wn. App. 294, 299, 85 P.3d 376, *review denied*, 152 Wn.2d 1031, 103 P.3d 200 (2004) (emphasis added) (citing *Morrissey*, 408 U.S. at 488, 92 S.Ct. 2593). While CCO Williams had filed a Notice of Violation, it did **not** include a recommendation for revocation. *See* 2/24/12 RP at page 10, lines 6-17. The State did not file its Petition for Hearing to Determine Noncompliance With Condition or Requirement of Sentence and Motion for Bench Warrant until February 27, 2012, **after** the Court had revoked Mr. Wolf's SSOSA. Mr. Wolf's trial counsel acquiesced in the lack of proper written notice of the specific violations upon which the State's request to revoke his SSOSA was based. He told the Court "that the State, of course, needs to file the petition that's consistent with the allegations that she laid out, whether it's, I know it's late in the day on Friday, or at least by Monday morning." *Id.*, page 5, lines 14-18.

### (b) The trial court based its decision to revoke the SSOSA on hearsay evidence.

Mr. Wolf's trial counsel urged that what the Court and the prosecutor believed was properly a review hearing should proceed as a revocation hearing (*see* 2/24/12 RP, page 5, lines 7-12; page 6, lines 21-25; page 7, lines 1-16; page 10, lines 20-23), then presented no witnesses to testify on Mr. Wolf's behalf. The State presented no witnesses to testify in support of revocation. Mr. Wolf's counsel conducted no cross-examination of any witnesses. Persons present at the hearing made informal comments, but were not sworn as witnesses. *See* 2/24/12 RP at page 10, lines 6-19; page 17, line 25; page 18, lines 1-25; page 19, lines 1-8; page 27, lines 17-25; page 28, lines 1-5.

Besides argument of counsel, which is "not evidence" (*Jones v. Hogan*, 56 Wn.2d 23, 31, 351 P.2d 153 (1960)), and unsworn, informal comments made by persons present at the hearing, the only evidence before the court was hearsay in the form of a violation report filed by CCO Williams (CP 432-446), letters from the TeamChild staff attorney, Paul Alig (CP 447-461) and Robert Parham, Mr. Wolf's substance abuse counselor (CP 478-479), and a declaration from attorney Kimberly N. Gordon in support of continuation of the SSOSA. CP 462-477.

"Hearsay evidence should be considered only if there is good cause to forego live testimony." *Dahl*, 139 Wn.2d at 686, 990 P.2d 396. Good cause is defined in terms of "difficulty and expense of procuring witnesses in combination with 'demonstrably reliable' or 'clearly reliable' evidence." *Id.* There was neither difficulty nor expense involved in procuring witnesses to testify in person. There was no "good cause" to forego live, **sworn** testimony in this case, and hearsay evidence was therefore not necessary, and should not have been considered by the trial court.

When a trial court improperly admits hearsay evidence, reversal of the revocation is required unless the error is harmless. *Dahl*, 139 Wn.2d at 688, 990 P.2d 775. "The prosecution bears the burden of showing that the error established by the defendant is harmless beyond a reasonable

-12-

doubt." *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 267, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). In this case, the error was not harmless, because with the exception of a declaration filed by Kimberly Gordon supporting continuation of the SSOSA, the only evidence before the court was the hearsay evidence that should not have been considered in the absence of "good cause" to forego live testimony.

(c) The trial court found that Mr. Wolf had violated conditions of his SSOSA based on defense counsel's stipulation to unverified facts presented to the court without prior notice and on a legal conclusion he urged the court to reach.

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