COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JOSEPH LEIF WOLF, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Elizabeth Martin, Presiding Judge

No. 08-1-02972-9

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By MELODY CRICK Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 35453

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT VIOLATE
DEFENDANT'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS BY
REVOKING DEFENDANT'S SSOSA WHEN
DEFENDANT DID NOT OBJECT TO NOTICE OR
HEARSAY AND HAD THE OPPORTUNITY TO
PREPARE A DEFENSE.

The revocation of a suspended sentence is not a criminal proceeding, and the defendant is entitled to only minimal due process rights. *State v. Dahl*, 139 Wn.2d 678, 683, 990 P.2d 396 (1999). Among these due process rights is a right to proper notice. *Id.* Proper notice sets forth the alleged parole violations of defendant's suspended sentence, and

-7- Wolf.doc

allows defendant an "opportunity to marshal the facts in his defense." *Id.* at 684. "These requirements exist to ensure that the finding of a violation of a term of a suspended sentence will be based upon verified facts. *Id.* at 683, quoting *Morrissey v. Brewer*, 408 U.S. 471, 484, 92 S. Ct. 2593, 33 L.Ed.2d 484 (1972).

In *Dahl*, the State alleged that defendant had failed to make reasonable progress in treatment. 139 Wn.2d at 684. The court based much of its decision to revoke defendant's SSOSA on two individual incidents, one where Dahl had exposed himself to two young girls, and one where he had sent a note to a young bank teller detailing his fantasies and obsession with the JonBenet Ramsey case. *Id.* at 681, 684. The court found that sufficient notice had been provided because defendant was informed of the State's contention that he had failed to make reasonable progress, and had been provided with his therapist's treatment reported. *Id.* at 685-86.

In *State v. Robinson*, 120 Wn. App. 294, 85 P.3d 376 (2004), the defendant alleged that he did not receive proper notice of the violations. *Robinson*, 120 Wn. App. at 299. Robinson also claimed that the trial court violated his due process rights when it relied on hearsay evidence. *Id.* at 300. The Court of Appeals found that when the defendant failed to object to improper notice at the hearing, he waived the notice requirements and could not appeal the issue. *Id.* at 299-300. Further, the court also found that the defendant could not sit by and not object to the use of

-8- Wolf.doc

hearsay evidence. *Id.* at 300. Robinson's due process rights were not violated. *Id.*

A defendant who invites error -- even constitutional error -- may not claim on appeal that he is entitled to a new trial on account of the error. *State v. Studd*, 137 Wn.2d 533, 546, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999); *State v. Aho*, 137 Wn.2d 736, 744-45, 975 P.2d 512 (1999); *State v. Smith*, 122 Wn. App. 294, 299, 93 P.3d 206 (2004). The doctrine of invited error applies regardless of whether counsel intentionally or inadvertently encouraged the error. *Seattle v. Patu*, 147 Wn.2d 717, 720, 58 P.3d 273 (2002). The invited error rule recognizes that "[t]o hold otherwise [i.e. to entertain an error that was invited] would put a premium on defendants misleading trial courts." *State v. Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d 867, 868, 792 P.2d 514 (1990).

In the instant case, defendant alleges that his due process rights were violated by both the trial court and his attorney. Specifically, defendant alleges that he did not receive proper written notice of the violations, that he was not able to cross-examine witnesses and that the decision to revoke was based on hearsay. Defendant's claims are without merit.

First, defendant did not object that the violations were not in writing. Defendant was aware of what the violations were as defense counsel and the State had a conversation outside of court as to the nature of the violations and how the hearing was going to proceed. 2/24/12RP 3-

-9 - Wolf.doc

4, 7. The violations were recited in open court and were contained in the violation report from the department of corrections. 2/24/12RP 3-7. The State listed out the violations and it was agreed that the State would reduce the violations to writing that day or the following business day. 2/24/12RP 3-5, 11. The State did file the written violations very soon after the hearing, and the written violation mirrored what was presented in court. CP 485-487. There was no dispute as to what the violations were, and defendant even stipulated to two of the violations and stipulated to the facts surrounding the third violation. 2/24/12RP 3-6. As the defendant had notice of the violations, did not dispute what the violations were, stipulated to two of them and the facts surrounding the third, and affirmatively waived the written notice requirement prior to the hearing, defendant cannot show that his due process rights were violated.

Similar to the defendant in *Robinson*, defendant was prepared to address the violations and even stipulated to the majority of what was before the court. Defendant never objected to the lack of notice, and in fact acknowledged the lack of written notice, but also acknowledged notice of the violations and readiness to address the violations. Defendant cannot invite error, if there was error, and then complain about it on appeal. Defendant did not even allege any error with the notice requirement in his motion to reconsider. *See* CP 491-515. The issue of notice is not properly before this Court and defendant's due process rights were not violated.

- 10 - Wolf.doc

Second, defendant was not prevented from presenting testimony or contesting the allegations. The State and the trial court both offered the option of setting over the hearing if defendant wanted more time. 2/24/12RP 6-7, 9-11. Defendant declined and wanted to proceed. 2/24/12RP 5-6, 10-12. At one point, defense counsel made clear that there was nothing more defense counsel could provide in terms of evidence about the violations, everything he could get he had and he was presenting that to the court today. 2/24/12RP 11-12. Defendant affirmatively chose not to exercise his right to call witnesses, and by stipulating to the violations, he also gave up his right to cross-examine witnesses as the State was no longer obligated to bring witnesses to prove the violations. Defendant has stipulated before in past violation hearings so he knew what that would mean in terms of how the hearing would proceed. 3/12/10RP 4, 7/20/11RP 3-4. Defendant had been through many prior review and revocation hearings, and had even had an evidentiary hearing on revocation on July 20, 2011. This was a choice defendant made which he cannot now claim was error on appeal. Further, defendant did not object to any hearsay evidence below, in fact, defendant stipulated to the evidence. Defendant himself presented hearsay evidence, so for defendant to complain about it now on appeal is both disingenuous and improper. In

- 11 - Wolf.doc

fact, defendant's motion to reconsider does not provide any new evidence in terms of the violations. Defendant cannot show any due process violations.

Finally, any error on the Order Revoking Sentence is a scrivener's error and nothing more. The case was set for a review hearing but the parties clearly contemplated that revocation could be an option. 2/24/12RP 3-12. The trial court noted initial confusion as to the nature of the hearing but was familiar with the case, not surprised that revocation was being sought and was willing to proceed. 2/24/12RP 7, 9-10, 11-12. The petition was not filed until after the hearing, but that was on agreement of the parties and the written petition reflected exactly what was before the trial court at the hearing. 2/24/12RP 3-11, CP 485-487. Scrivener's errors are clerical errors that are the result of mistake or inadvertence, especially in writing or copying something on the record. They are not errors of judicial reasoning or determination. See BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 582, 1375 (8th ed. 1999). CrR 7.8(a) provides that clerical errors in judgments, orders, or other parts of the record may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party. A plea generally is not rendered invalid by an obvious scrivener's error in an information, such as a statutory citation error. See In re Mayer, 128 Wn. App. 694, 117 P.3d 353 (2005). In Mayer, the court found that there was a scrivener's error in the plea and judgment rendering these documents facially invalid. *Id.* at 700-01. Despite this

- 12 - Wolf.doc

facial invalidity, Mayer was only entitled to a remand for a correction of the scrivener's error; the court did not invalidate the conviction. The remedy for a scrivener's error is to remand to the trial court for correction of the error. *Id.* at 701. In that instant case, the trial court's order still accurately reflects the nature of the hearing and what happened at the proceeding. The record is clear as to how the hearing came about.

Defendant did not object to the proceeding, and in fact affirmatively asked for the hearing to proceed. Defendant also never objected to the wording of the court order, either at the revocation hearing or at the motion to reconsider. Defendant cannot show any due process error based on the court order.

2. DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR ASKING THE COURT TO PROCEED WITH REVOCATION WHERE COUNSEL WAS PREPARED TO MAKE ARGUMENT TO THE COURT AND PROCEEDING WAS A TACTICAL DECISION.

"The essence of an ineffective-assistance claim is that counsel's unprofessional errors so upset the adversarial balance between defense and prosecution that the [proceeding] was rendered unfair and the verdict rendered suspect." *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. 365, 374, 91 L.Ed.2d 305, 106 S. Ct. 2574, 2582 (1986). A defendant who raises a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel must demonstrate that: (1) his or

- 13 - Wolf.doc

her attorney's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficiency was prejudicial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 77-78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). Under the first prong, matters that go to strategy or tactics do not show deficient performance. *State v. Garrett*, 124 Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994). Under the second prong, defendant must show that a reasonable probability exists that the result would have been different, but for counsel's errors. *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987).

The standard of review for effective assistance of counsel is whether the court can conclude, after examining the record as a whole, that defendant received effective representation and a fair trial. *State v. Ciskie*, 110 Wn.2d 263, 751 P.2d 1165 (1988), *see also State v. White*, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 964 (1993), *review denied*, 123 Wn.2d 1004 (1994). "The question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under 'prevailing professional norms,' not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom." *Premo v. Moore*, 562 U.S. _____, 131 S. Ct. 733, 740, 178 L.Ed.2d. 649 (2011), quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690, *see also Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. _____, 131 S. Ct. 770, 778, 178 L.Ed.2d 624 (2011). Judicial scrutiny of an attorney's performance must be "highly deferential in order to eliminate

- 14 - Wolf.doc

the distorting effects of hindsight." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. The reviewing court must judge the reasonableness of counsel's actions "on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." *Id.* at 690; *State v. Benn*, 120 Wn.2d 631, 633, 845 P.2d 289 (1993). A presumption of counsel's competence can be overcome by showing counsel failed to conduct appropriate investigations, adequately prepare for trial, or subpoena necessary witnesses. *Id.* An appellate court is unlikely to find ineffective assistance on the basis of one alleged mistake. *State v. Carpenter*, 52 Wn. App. 680, 684-685, 763 P.2d 455 (1988).

In the instant case, defense counsel was a true advocate for his client. A review of the entire record, as dictated by case law, show defense counsel worked hard to coordinate all of the resources defendant was utilizing and make sure they could present to the court at the various hearings. Defense counsel worked hard to support defendant getting into school. 10/28/11 6. Defense counsel also disputed violations when necessary and stipulated when necessary. *See* 7/24/09RP, 11/13/09RP, 3/12/10RP, and 7/20/11RP. At the revocation hearing on February 24, 2012, defense counsel chose to proceed by stipulating to the violations and emphasizing that defendant needed to get out to get into school. This was a reasonable tactical decision. Defendant had already been warned by two different judges that he was out of chances. 7/24/09RP 15, 3/12/10RP 8,

- 15 - Wolf.doc

7/20/11RP 137. Yet, defendant stood before the court with more violations. The most prudent course of action would be to admit to the violations and then plead for mercy. It was a tactical decision by defense counsel. Also, the trial court had been concerned in the past with defendant getting into school. 7/20/11RP 138, 149. Emphasizing that the reason defendant wanted to proceed was so he had the hope of starting school on time was clearly trying to play to the trial court's focus on that aspect of defendant's life, and hoping that he would win one last chance to stay on his SSOSA. The fact that decision did not turn out the way defendant hoped does not render defense counsel ineffective. Defense counsel tried to present the violations in the best possible light and also to present defendant as apologetic and ready to comply. It was a prudent tactical decision. Defendant cannot show that defense counsel was deficient.

Further, defendant cannot show prejudice as defendant got another chance, with a new defense attorney, to argue for the trial court to reconsider its previous decision to revoke his SSOSA. *See* 4/27/12RP. Defendant did not present any new evidence but urged the trial court to review its decision and placed emphasis on certain aspects it wanted the trial court to focus on. 4/2712RP 4-29, 45-49. The trial court reviewed the case for an extended period of time and denied the motion to

-16 - Wolf.doc

reconsider. 4/27/12RP 53. Even with a different attorney and a new hearing, the trial court came to the same conclusion: that defendant's SSOSA should be revoked. Defendant cannot show prejudice. Defendant cannot meet his burden of showing that his counsel was ineffective.

3. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRETION IN REVOKING DEFENDANT'S SSOSA
OR IN DENYING THE MOTION TO RECONSIDER
WHERE BOTH WERE REASONABLE, APPROPRIATE
AND BASED ON THE INFORMATION PRESENTED.

On appeal, the revocation of a SSOSA sentence is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Partee*, 141 Wn. App. 355, 361, 170 P.3d 60 (2007). A court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or arbitrary, or is based on untenable grounds. *State v. Miller*, 159 Wn. App. 911, 918, 247 P.3d 457 (2011) *citing State ex rel.***Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971). "A court may revoke an offender's SSOSA at any time if it is reasonably satisfied the offender violated a condition of the suspended sentence." **Partee*, 141 Wn. App. at 361, *citing State v. Dahl*, 139 Wn.2d 678, 683, 990 P.2d 396 (1999).

In the instant case, defense alleges that the trial court abused its discretion in proceeding with the revocation hearing, in revoking his

- 17 - Wolf.doc

SSOSA based on hearsay, and in denying his motion to reconsider.

However, since the trial court's decisions were clearly reasonable and appropriate under case law, at the instance of defendant in at least one instance, and based on the information presented the decision cannot be said to be an abuse of discretion.

First, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in proceeding with the revocation hearing. The trial court was initially confused as to whether the case was set for revocation or review. 2/24/12RP 5. The trial court thought that the case would be set for a revocation hearing sometime in the future. 2/24/12RP 9. However, the trial court did find that the only reason it did not know for sure if revocation was being sought was because it had not been noted as such and the State had not filed the petition. 2/24/12RP 12. However, the trial court did have the violation report and was prepared to proceed, a fact the court reiterated at the motion to reconsider. 2/24/12RP 11-12, 4/27/12RP 29. This was not the first time defendant had been in front of the trial court and the trial court was familiar with the case. See 6/11/10RP, 9/10/10RP, 3/11/11RP, 7/20/11RP, 10/28/11RP, and 1/27/12RP. In fact, a full evidentiary hearing had been held on July 20, 2011, and an extensive history of the case has been presented. 7/20/11RP 6-10. The trial court was prepared to proceed with the revocation hearing.

- 18 - Wolfdoc

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